
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

AUSTIN DIVISION 

 

AMERICAN ACADEMY OF   : 

IMPLANT DENTISTRY    : 

211 East Chicago Avenue, Suite 750  :  

Chicago, Illinois 60611,     : 

          :  

AMERICAN SOCIETY OF     : 

DENTIST ANESTHESIOLOGISTS  :  

6038 Callaway Court      :  

Centreville, Virginia 20121,    : 

          :  

AMERICAN ACADEMY OF   : 

ORAL MEDICINE      :  

23607 Highway 99, Suite 2C    :   

Edmonds, Washington 98026,    :  

          :  

AMERICAN ACADEMY OF    : 

OROFACIAL PAIN      : 

174 S. New York Avenue     : 

Oceanville, New Jersey 08231,    : 

          : 

JAY E. ELLIOT, D.D.S.     :  

4005 Broadway       : 

Houston, Texas 77087,     :  No. 1:14-cv-191 

          : 

MONTY BUCK, D.D.S.     : 

4245 Central Expressway, Suite 400  : 

Dallas, Texas 75205,      : 

          : 

JAROM C. HEATON, D.D.S.   : 

3444 Pine Needles Circle     : 

Round Rock, Texas 78681,    : 

          : 

MICHAELL A. HUBER, D.D.S.   : 

19 Impala Way       : 

San Antonio, Texas 78258, and   : 

          : 

EDWARD F. WRIGHT, D.D.S., M.S.  : 

83 Cross Canyon       : 

San Antonio, Texas 78247,    : 

: 

 Plaintiffs,       :  

          :  
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v.          :  

          :         

In their official capacities:     : 

          : 

GLENN PARKER      :    

Executive Director of the Texas State  : 

Board of Dental Examiners    : 

33 Guadalupe Street, Suite 3-800   : 

Austin, Texas 78701, and     :  

          : 

TAMELA L. GOUGH, D.D.S., M.S.,  : 

STEVEN AUSTIN, D.D.S.,    : 

TIM O'HARE,        : 

KIRBY BUNEL JR., D.D.S.,    : 

WILLIAM R. BIRDWELL, D.D.S.,  : 

EMILY A. CHRISTY,      : 

JAMES W. CHANCELLOR, D.D.S.,   : 

RODOLFO G. RAMOS, JR., D.D.S.,  : 

LEWIS WHITE,      : 

WHITNEY HYDE,       : 

RENEE CORNETT, R.D.H.,    : 

D. BRADLEY DEAN, D.D.S.,   : 

CHRISTIE LEEDY, D.D.S.,     : 

LOIS PALERMO, R.D.H., and   : 

EVANGELIA MOTE,     : 

          : 

Members,        : 

Texas State Board of Dental Examiners  : 

33 Guadalupe Street, Suite 3-800   : 

Austin, Texas 78701      : 

          : 

 Defendants.       : 

____________________________________: 

 

 

ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 

 

The Plaintiffs, by and through undersigned counsel, allege as follows: 

Preamble: Nature of action 
 

1. This lawsuit challenges, both on its face and as applied to Plaintiffs, the constitutionality 

of a regulation promulgated and enforced by the Texas State Dental Board of Dental Examiners 

(“State Dental Board”) and its Executive Director. The challenged regulation is codified as Sec-
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tion 108.54 of the Texas Administrative Code (“Rule 108.54” or “specialty regulation”). The 

specialty regulation purports to prohibit l i c e n s e d  Texas dentists from advertising to the 

public as specialists based on the credentials conferred by certain bona fide dental organizations 

— the American Academy of Implant Dentistry ("AAID"), its certifying board, the American 

Board of Oral Implantology/Implant Dentistry ("ABOI/ID"), the American Society of Dentist 

Anesthesiologists ("ASDA"), the American Academy of Oral Medicine ("AAOM"), and the 

American Academy of Orofacial Pain (“AAOP”) — which credential dentists in their respec-

tive fields of dentistry. To effect this unconstitutional result, Rule 108.54 delegates standard-

less regulatory authority to a private trade association, the American Dental Association 

("ADA"). Despite conferring such governmental powers on a private organization, the State of 

Texas exercises no control or active supervision over the ADA, a body whose members pos-

sess economic and competitive interests squarely at odds with Plaintiffs. Membership in the 

ADA is not required to obtain, or maintain, dental licensure in Texas. 

2. This specialty regulation directly and immediately impairs Plaintiffs’ rights in at 

least the following ways: 

A. Rule 108.54 violates Plaintiffs' right to free speech, guaranteed by the First 
Amendment to the United States Constitution through the Due Process 
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, by banning truthful, non-misleading 
commercial speech. Even if the regulation does not constitute an absolute ban, 
it has a chilling effect on Plaintiffs' lawful exercise of their right to engage in 
truthful, non-misleading commercial speech, in violation of the First Amend-
ment to the United States Constitution. 

 
B. Rule 108.54 violates Plaintiffs' right to due process of law guaranteed by the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States. Plaintiffs 
have protected property and liberty interests in their licenses to practice den-
tistry and to be rewarded for their industry, including reaping the rewards of 
earning a bona fide professional credential in their respective areas of expertise. 
Under the regulation, Plaintiffs are deprived of any neutral, state-sponsored 

Case 1:14-cv-00191   Document 1   Filed 03/05/14   Page 3 of 22



4 

 

mechanism to determine dental specialties, evaluate the credentials earned in 
areas of dentistry not recognized by the ADA as a specialty, and are further 
deprived of any mechanism for appealing the ADA’s denial of recognition of 
any credentialing organization which issues bona fide credentials upon which 
Plaintiffs could declare themselves “specialists” in their respective fields. Fur-
ther, Plaintiffs are deprived of any right to a neutral and impartial fact-finder, 
resulting in arbitrary and capricious decisions in violation of Plaintiffs' due 
process rights. The Plaintiffs have no recourse to challenge any ADA designa-
tion of specialty, or any ADA refusal to recognize the respective Plaintiffs’ ar-
eas of practice as specialty areas of practice. The Defendants have unlawfully 
delegated Plaintiffs’ past, current, and prospective rights to commercial free 
speech to a private trade association in which many Texas licensed dentists are 
not even members. The Defendants issue only one dental license in Texas, 
and the individual Plaintiff dentists and those permitted by the challenged reg-
ulation to advertise themselves as “specialists” both have the same license. 

 
C. Rule 108.54 violates the Plaintiffs' right to equal protection under the laws 

guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 
It is well settled that all similarly situated persons are equal before the law. In 
evaluating claims of statutory discrimination, a regulation is inherently suspect 
and subject to heightened judicial scrutiny if it impinges on fundamental con-
stitutional rights. The regulation impinges on Plaintiffs' fundamental constitu-
tional rights and is, therefore, suspect and subject to heightened judicial scru-
tiny. 

  
Jurisdiction and venue 

3. This Court has original jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(a). Plain-

tiffs seek declaratory and injunctive relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, as well as 42 

U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988. This matter arises under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to 

the United States Constitution and is asserted through 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

4. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 124(d)(1) and 1391(b). De-

fendants have their official place of business in Austin, Texas. 
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Parties 

Plaintiffs 

5. Plaintiff AAID is a national dental organization whose member dentists, upon satis-

fying certain experiential, educational, and testing requirements, may earn credentials issued by 

AAID and its certifying board, the American Board of Oral Implantology/Implant Dentistry 

(“ABOI/ID”), in the field of implant dentistry. AAID acts both on its own behalf and in a repre-

sentative capacity on behalf of its dentist members who are engaged in the practice of dentistry in 

Texas and are adversely affected by Rule 108.54.   

6. Plaintiff ASDA is a national dental organization whose member dentists, upon satis-

fying certain experiential, educational, and testing requirements, may earn credentials issued by 

ASDA in the field of dental anesthesiology. ASDA acts both on its own behalf and in a repre-

sentative capacity on behalf of its dentist members who are engaged in the practice of dentistry in 

Texas and are adversely affected by Rule 108.54. The ASDA sponsors its certifying board, the 

American Dental Board of Anesthesiology (“ADBA”). 

7. Plaintiff AAOM is a national dental organization whose member dentists, upon sat-

isfying certain experiential, educational, and testing requirements, may earn credentials in the 

field of oral medicine. AAOM acts both on its own behalf and in a representative capacity on be-

half of its dentist members who are engaged in the practice of dentistry in Texas and are adverse-

ly affected by Rule 108.54. The AAOM sponsors its certifying board, the American Board of Oral 

Medicine (“ABOM”). Both organizations have been operational and in existence for over 55 

years. 

8. Plaintiff AAOP is a national dental organization whose member dentists, upon satis-
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fying certain experiential, educational, and testing requirements, may earn credentials issued by 

AAOP in the field of orofacial pain. AAOP acts both on its own behalf and in a representative ca-

pacity on behalf of its dentist members who are engaged in the practice of dentistry in Texas and 

are adversely affected by Rule 108.54. The AAOP sponsors its certifying board, the American 

Board of Orofacial Pain (“ABOP”). 

9. Plaintiffs AAID, ASDA, AAOM, and AAOP — collectively, the “organizational 

Plaintiffs” — have promoted their respective fields of dentistry through education, training, and 

research for many years. Credentialed members of the organizational Plaintiffs have been unable 

to advertise as specialists and are unable to achieve specialty recognition because Defendants de-

fer exclusively to the ADA’s specialty recognition process. This process is entirely determined 

within that trade association, is flawed, inherently biased, anti-competitive, and decided by com-

petitor dentists as members of its House of Delegates. Further, the ADA specialty recognition 

process has no mechanism for appeal by any Texas dentist of the results of ADA decisions re-

garding which areas of dentistry shall be considered “specialty” areas of dental practice. Since 

membership in the ADA is not required for licensed Texas dentists, it is also true that many Tex-

as dentists directly affected by the specialty recognition process and decisions of the ADA do not 

even get to participate even indirectly in the selection of those who make such decisions. 

10. Plaintiff Jay E. Elliott (“Dr. Elliott”) resides in Galveston County, Texas. He is li-

censed to practice dentistry in Texas and conducts his dental practice in Houston, Texas. He is a 

credentialed member of AAID as a Fellow. He also is a Diplomate of the ABOI/ID, the certifying 

board sponsored by the AAID. Dr. Elliot wishes to be recognized as a specialist and to advertise 

as a specialist in implant dentistry. He brings this action to protect his constitutional rights and to 
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increase the provision of truthful, non-misleading information to consumers about his own spe-

cialization in the area of implant dentistry.  

11. Plaintiff Monty Buck (“Dr. Buck”) resides in Dallas County, Texas. He is licensed 

to practice dentistry in Texas and conducts a dental practice in Dallas, Texas. He is a creden-

tialed member of AAID as a Fellow. He also is a Diplomate (Board Certified) of the ABOI/ID. 

Dr. Buck wishes to be recognized as a specialist and to advertise as a specialist in implant dentis-

try He brings this action to protect his constitutional rights and to increase the provision of truth-

ful, non-misleading information available to consumers about available dentistry services and his 

specialization in this field. 

12. Plaintiff Jarom C. Heaton (“Dr. Heaton”) resides in Williamson County, Texas. 

He is licensed to practice dentistry in Texas and conducts his practice in Round Rock, Texas. He 

is board certified in dental anesthesiology by the American Dental Board of Anesthesiology.   Dr. 

Heaton wishes to be recognized as a specialist in dental anesthesia — that is, as a dental anesthe-

siologist — and to advertise as a specialist in dental anesthesia. He brings this action to protect 

his constitutional rights and to increase the provision of truthful, valuable, and non-misleading 

information available to consumers about available services that he provides as a specialist in den-

tal anesthesia. 

13. Plaintiff Michaell A. Huber (“Dr. Huber”) resides in Bexar County, Texas. He is 

licensed to practice dentistry in Texas and is an Associate Professor and Oral Medicine Subject 

Expert at the University of Texas Dental School in San Antonio, Texas. He is a credentialed 

member of AAOM. Dr. Huber wishes to be recognized as a specialist and to hold himself out as a 

specialist in Oral Medicine, being certified by the American Board of Oral Medicine (“ABOM”), 
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the certifying board sponsored by the plaintiff AAOM in the field of oral medicine. He brings this 

action to protect his constitutional rights and to increase the provision of truthful, non-

misleading information available to consumers about his expertise in this area of dentistry.  

14. Plaintiff Edward F. Wright (“Dr. Wright”) resides in Bexar County, Texas. He is 

licensed to practice dentistry in Texas and is a Professor at the University of Texas Dental School 

in San Antonio, Texas. He is a member of the AAOP and board certified in Orofacial pain by the 

American Board of Orofacial Pain (“ABOP”), the certifying board sponsored by the plaintiff 

AAOP. Dr. Wright wishes to be recognized as a specialist in Orofacial Pain, and to promote him-

self and advertise as a specialist in this area of dentistry. He brings this action to protect his con-

stitutional rights and to increase the provision of truthful, non-misleading information available 

to consumers about available dental services. 

Defendants 

15. Defendants, who are the members of the State Dental Board and its Executive Di-

rector, are sued only in their official capacities.  Collectively, they are responsible for imple-

menting, administering, and enforcing Section 254.001(a)(2) of the Texas Occupations 

Code and the various provisions of the Texas Administrative Code, including Rule 108.54, 

which they have promulgated and left in place and operative.  
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Factual background 

 16. Rule 108.54 provides as follows: 

(a) Recognized Specialties. A dentist may advertise as a specialist or use the terms 
"specialty" or "specialist" to describe professional services in recognized specialty 
areas that are: 
  (1) recognized by a board that certifies specialists in the area of specialty; and 

(2) accredited by the Commission on Dental Accreditation of the American 
Dental Association. 

 
(b) The following are recognized specialty areas and meet the requirements of sub-
section (a)(1) and (2) of this section: 
 

(1) Endodontics; 
(2) Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery; 
(3) Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics; 
(4) Pediatric Dentistry; 
(5) Periodontics; 
(6) Prosthodontics; 
(7) Dental Public Health; 
(8) Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology; and 
(9) Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology. 

 
(c) A dentist who wishes to advertise as a specialist or a multiple-specialist in one 
or more recognized specialty areas under subsection (a)(1) and (2) and subsection 
(b)(1)-(9) of this section shall meet the criteria in one or more of the following cat-
egories: 
 

(1) Educationally qualified is a dentist who has successfully completed an edu-
cational program of two or more years in a specialty area accredited by the 
Commission on Dental Accreditation of the American Dental Association, as 
specified by the Council on Dental Education of the American Dental Associa-
tion. 
 
(2) Board certified is a dentist who has met the requirements of a specialty 
board referenced in subsection (a)(1) and (2) of this section, and who has re-
ceived a certificate from the specialty board, indicating the dentist has achieved 
diplomate status, or has complied with the provisions of §108.56(a) and (b) of 
this subchapter (relating to Certifications, Degrees, Fellowships, Memberships 
and Other Credentials). 
 
(3) A dentist is authorized to use the term 'board certified' in any advertising 
for his/her practice only if the specialty board that conferred the certification is 
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referenced in subsection (a)(1) and (2) of this section, or the dentist complies 
with the provisions of §108.56(a) and (b) of this subchapter. 
 

(d) Dentists who choose to communicate specialization in a recognized specialty 
area as set forth in subsection (b)(1)-(9) of this section should use "specialist in" or 
"practice limited to" and should limit their practice exclusively to the advertised 
specialty area(s) of dental practice. Dentists may also state that the specialization 
is an "ADA recognized specialty." At the time of the communication, such dentists 
must have met the current educational requirements and standards set forth by the 
American Dental Association for each approved specialty. A dentist shall not 
communicate or imply that he/she is a specialist when providing specialty services, 
whether in a general or specialty practice, if he or she has not received a certifica-
tion from an accredited institution. The burden of responsibility is on the practice 
owner to avoid any inference that those in the practice who are general practition-
ers are specialists as identified in subsection (b)(1) - (9) of this section.  
 

 17. Under Tex. Occup. Code § 263.002(a)(1) and 22 Tex. Admin. Code § 107.202(d)(7), 

the State Dental Board may punish licensed Texas dentists for violations of Rule 108.54 with 

monetary penalties and suspension of their licenses to practice dentistry. 

18. All licensed Texas dentists are lawfully permitted to perform dental services in all areas 

of dental practice, in both ADA-recognized specialty areas and areas of dentistry not recognized 

as specialty areas by the ADA such as those represented by the Plaintiffs. 

19. All licensed Texas dentists are lawfully permitted to advertise that they offer specific 

services in areas of dentistry recognized by the ADA as specialties and areas of dentistry not rec-

ognized by the ADA as specialty areas of practice regardless of their actual education, experience, 

or expertise in performing those dental services. For example, all Texas dentists may place dental 

implants, whether or not they have had any formal training, education, or experience in placing 

implants. 

20. Each of the individual Plaintiffs is a member of either the AAID, ASDA, AAOM, or 

AAOP and has earned credentials from his respective organization. The individual Plaintiffs have 
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expended many thousands of dollars in expenses and professional time to earn these credentials 

and acquire expertise in their respective areas of practice. Rule 108.54 has deprived them of any 

opportunity to recoup their investments and to be rewarded for their industry in earning these 

credentials and declaring themselves to be specialists in their respective areas of expertise. The 

rule further deprives the public of knowledge of those dental professionals who are more highly 

educated, trained, and tested in their respective fields in dental implants, dental anesthesia, oral 

medicine, and orofacial pain. 

21. The AAID has supported the field of implant dentistry for over 60 years. AAID's prima-

ry purpose is the enhancement of its members' knowledge, skill, and expertise in the field of im-

plant dentistry. Implant dentistry is a multidisciplinary field, which includes dental surgery, pros-

thetics, periodontics, occlusion, pain management, anatomy, physiology, pathology, and dental 

facial aesthetics. To these ends, members of the organization may earn credentials in the field of 

implant dentistry — the "Associate Fellow–AAID," "Fellow–AAID," and "Diplomate–

ABOI/ID" designations — by successfully completing numerous educational, experiential, and 

examination requirements. The requirements for attaining the level of expertise required to earn 

credentials from the AAID and the ABOI/ID are both objective and verifiable. 

22. To become an “Associate Fellow–AAID,” a dentist must: (a) complete 300 hours of 

continuing education in implant dentistry, including 150 hours of clinical implant education; (b) 

pass a written examination; and (c) successfully complete an oral/clinical treatment case exami-

nation. To become a “Fellow–AAID,” a dentist must: (a) have 5 years of experience in implant 

dentistry; (b) complete 100 hours of continuing education in implant dentistry (above and beyond 

the 300 hours required for the associate fellow credentials); (c) provide dental implant treatment 
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in fifty cases; (d) pass an oral examination; and (e) satisfactorily present 10 cases to the AAID's 

admissions and credential board. The AAID currently has, nationally, approximately 4,600 

members, about 550 of whom have earned Associate Fellow or Fellow status.    

23. AAID also sponsors a certifying board, the ABOI/ID, which issues the "Diplomate" or 

"BoardCertified" credential. Dentists may earn this credential by passing ABOI/ID's certifica-

tion examination and by fulfilling certain educational, experiential and examination requirements. 

Since ABOI/ID began issuing these credentials in 1989, only about 225 dentists (including Drs. 

Elliott and Buck) have successfully completed the requirements and received this designation. 

24. ASDA has promoted the field of dental anesthesia since 1981. Its primary purpose is to 

support and encourage the clinical practice of anesthesia by dentists, and to promote the acquisi-

tion and dissemination of associated scientific knowledge. ASDA seeks to train dentists in the full 

spectrum of anesthesia care and to make it available to dental patients. 

25. Dental Anesthesiologists offer a full spectrum of safe and comfortable anesthesia ser-

vices in their own offices or for patients in their dentist's’ office. The ASDA recognizes that most 

dental procedure discomfort can be managed with local anesthesia. However, the ASDA also 

recognizes the need for deep sedation and general anesthesia to manage pain and anxiety in pa-

tients for whom local anesthesia and lighter levels of sedation are ineffective or inappropriate. It 

is estimated that as many as 75% of adults in the United States experience some degree of dental 

fear, from mild to severe. Approximately 10% of adults in the United States are considered to ex-

perience dental phobia; that is, they are so fearful of receiving dental treatment that they com-

pletely avoid dental care. This is especially relevant for pre-cooperative or uncooperative chil-
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dren, developmentally delayed, autistic, and physically challenged patients, as well as for the el-

derly with cognitive deficits. 

26. The ASDA is composed of dentists who have completed a minimum of two years of full-

time postdoctoral training in dental anesthesiology, including hospital room anesthesiology rota-

tions, ambulatory anesthesia for dental patients, emergency medicine, acute and chronic pain 

management, and cardiology. This clinical training is complemented by didactic lectures and 

seminars to develop highly competent practitioners who can carefully evaluate a dental patient to 

determine and deliver the appropriate, needed sedation or general anesthesia and safely manage 

complications that may arise.  The certifying board in this area of dentistry is the American Den-

tal Board of Anesthesiology (ADBA). 

27. Oral Medicine is the discipline of dentistry concerned with the oral health care of medi-

cally complex patients--including the diagnosis and management of medical conditions that affect 

the oral and maxillofacial region. AAOM members care for thousands of patients whose underly-

ing medical condition affects oral health and delivery of dental care.  Plaintiff AAOM advocates 

for optimal oral health and health care for everyone with medical illness. 

28. The AAOM has been promoting the field of oral medicine since 1945. AAOM's goal is 

to integrate medicine and dentistry in order to promote optimal health. To that end, AAOM 

seeks to advance excellence in patient care, education, and research in the field of Oral Medicine, 

as well as to promote access to quality, affordable, and cost-effective expert Oral Medicine care. 

29. AAOM offers credentialing, resources and professional community for oral medicine 

practitioners. AAOM membership provides care to thousands and offers resources to help the 

public take advantage of this uniquely qualified specialty.  
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30. To become a Fellow of the AAOM, the dentist must: (a) be a member of the American 

Academy of Oral Medicine for at least two (2) years; (b) attend of at least two annual meetings, 

one of which may be the year the examination is taken; (c) demonstrate proficiency in oral medi-

cine through teaching oral medicine, a residency program, hospital affiliation, oral medicine pub-

lications, and continuing education courses in oral medicine; and (d) successfully complete a 

written examination.  

 31. To be Board Certified in this field of dentistry, the dentist must fulfill rigorous educa-

tional, experiential and examination criteria and be certified by the American Board of Oral Med-

icine (ABOM). 

 32. AAOP has been promoting the field of orofacial pain since 1975. It is an organization of 

dentists dedicated to alleviating pain and suffering through the promotion of excellence in educa-

tion, research and patient care in the field of orofacial pain and associated disorders. The basic 

objectives of AAOP are to improve the knowledge of those interested in complex chronic orofa-

cial pain disorders by increased communication, education, and exchange of scientific infor-

mation, as well as to stimulate the profession towards greater awareness of these disorders and 

their treatment.  

 33. The field of orofacial pain is concerned with the prevention, evaluation, diagnosis, 

treatment, and rehabilitation of orofacial pain disorders. Such disorders may have pain and asso-

ciated symptoms arising from a discrete cause, such as postoperative pain or pain associated with 

a malignancy, or may be syndromes in which pain constitutes the primary problem, such as tem-

promandibular joint disorder (TMJ) pain, neuropathic pains, atypical facial pain, or headaches. 
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 34.  The diagnosis of painful syndromes relies on: interpretation of historical data; review of 

laboratory studies, imaging, behavioral, social, and occupational assessment; and interview and 

examination by the orofacial pain specialist. The orofacial pain specialist serves as a consultant to 

other dentists and physicians, but is often the principal treating health care provider and may 

provide care at various levels, such as direct treatment, prescribing medication, prescribing reha-

bilitative services, performing pain relieving procedures, counseling of patients and families, di-

rection of a multidisciplinary team, coordination of care with other healthcare providers, and 

consultative services to public and private agencies pursuant to optimal healthcare delivery to the 

patient suffering from a painful disorder. Board certification in this area of dental practice is 

through the American Board of Orofacial Pain (“ABOP”). 

35. Despite the objectively verifiable education, training, and experience required to obtain 

credentials from the AAID, ASDA, AAOM, and AAOP (or their respective certifying boards as 

the case may be), the individual Plaintiffs, all licensed dentists and credentialed members/board 

certified in their respective areas of practice, can neither declare themselves specialists nor adver-

tise that their respective areas of expertise are specialty areas of dental practice. The ADA refus-

es to recognize implant dentistry, orofacial pain, oral medicine, and dental anesthesiology as spe-

cialty areas of practice. Through the operation of Rule 108.54, such refusals by a private profes-

sional organization constitutes a legal prohibition, barring many licensed Texas dentists, includ-

ing the individual Plaintiffs, from holding themselves out as specialists in their fields. 

36. Under Rule 108.54, the State Dental Board has delegated authority to the ADA to 

determine which areas of dental practice should receive specialty designation and, hence, 

which areas may be advertised by Texas dentists as specialties. The regulations provide no 
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mechanism for evaluating the accrediting organization or its credentials or for contesting the 

decisions of the ADA denying specialty recognition. 

37. The ADA is neither a neutral nor an impartial fact-finder concerning dental accredit-

ing organizations in the multiple areas of dentistry represented by the Plaintiffs. On the con-

trary, credentialed AAID, ASDA, AAOM, and AAOP members compete with ADA members 

who are either board-certified in ADA-recognized specialties or are dentists who engage in the 

areas of practice represented by Plaintiffs, but who have not earned any bona fide credentials in 

those fields. Advertising of credentials or specialization in the areas of dental practice represent-

ed by Plaintiffs presents a direct economic threat to ADA members who decide specialty areas 

of practice, thereby precluding an impartial determination of specialties and specialty areas of 

practice.  The determination of whether or not an area of dentistry will be deemed a special-

ty area of dentistry recognized by the ADA is made by its House of Delegates, comprised of 

almost 500 dentists from the 50 state affiliated associations, such as the Texas Dental Asso-

ciation. This would be tantamount to the American Medical Association (AMA) deciding 

which areas of medical practice would be deemed medical specialties, but, in contrast to the 

situation presented here, the AMA does not make those determinations.   

38. Under Rule 108.54, the State of Texas has no active, continuing, or meaningful super-

vision over the unfettered regulatory delegation afforded to the ADA to determine which areas 

of practice and which dental credentials may be advertised by Texas dentists as specialties. 

Federal constitutional restraints do not allow the State Dental Board to delegate unguided and 

uncontrolled authority to a private organization to establ i sh  rules  determining the lawful-
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ness or unlawfulness of commercial speech. Yet, this is precisely what Defendants have done 

in promulgating Rule 108.54 and continuing to enforce it. 

39. The regulatory scheme has effectively granted the ADA the power to regulate t h e  

right to free speech of the individual Plaintiffs by not allowing credentialed members in the 

AAID, ADSA, AAOM or AAOP to advertise as specialists even though they are highly qualified 

to do so. The specialty regulation has a chilling effect on Plaintiffs' lawful exercise of their right 

to engage in truthful, non-misleading commercial speech because, if they were to advertise to 

the public as specialists, their licenses would be at risk, and they would be subject to monetary 

penalties imposed by the State Dental Board. 

40. Moreover, the specialty regulation’s prohibitions exist in the absence of any substantive 

determination by the State Dental Board whether a dental organization is bona fide, how creden-

tialing is obtained, and whether advertising as a specialist in the field would be deceptive or mis-

leading to the public. The regulation imposes arbitrary conditions precedent to advertising with-

out regard to the nature, validity or truthfulness of the information provided to the public, all in 

direct violation of Plaintiffs’ rights. 

41. The regulation also violates procedural due process.    The ADA is given the authority, 

final and unchecked, to determine the limits of lawful dental advertising and is free from pro-

cedures consistent with due process. There is no right for a Texas licensed dentist to request 

recognition of his or her field as a specialty. The ADA does not have to give a dentist notice or 

an opportunity to be heard as it determines de facto t h e  l e g a l i t y  of dental advertising in 

Texas.  There is no right to appeal any decisions made by the ADA.    By outsourcing the de-

termination as to which areas of dentistry will be recognized and may lawfully be  advertised as 
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specialties, the challenged regulation denies interested persons the pre- and post-deprivation 

remedies which due process commands.  The challenged regulation deprives interested par-

ties of an opportunity to be heard, and while the failure to provide pre-deprivation notice 

and hearing may be cured by post-deprivation remedies, the challenged regulation offers no 

such remedy.     A refusal by the ADA to recognize specific organizations or areas of dentistry as 

specialty areas of practice, such as those represented by the individual Plaintiffs, is final and 

not reviewable. This violates the due process guarantees of the Fourteenth Ame ndment  

to  the  Constitution of the United States. 

42. Furthermore, the regulation also violates substantive due process, which protects 

fundamental rights from a r b i t r a r y  a n d  unwarranted encroachment by the government. 

When a regulation encroaches on fundamental constitutional rights, it must be narrowly tai-

lored to achieve a state's purpose.  The specialty regulation in question encroaches on the 

fundamental rights of Plaintiffs.  Their rights to be rewarded for their industry and unre-

strained communication regarding their credentials, expertise, and right to declare 

themselves trained specialists in their respective areas of practice have been d e-

nied. The specialty regulation does not satisfy basic constitutional standards and is not nar-

rowly tailored. It creates false impressions regarding the legitimate credentialing organiza-

tions of which the individual Plaintiffs are members and signals a State-approved stamp of un-

worthiness of specialty status. The specialty regulation implies that the ADA has evaluated the 

authenticity of the organi zat i ona l  Plaintiffs and determined that they are u n fit for inclu-

sion as specialty boards and their respective fields are unworthy of advertising as specialty areas 

of practice. As such, Rule 108.54 violates constitutional guarantees of due process. 
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43. Drs. Elliot, Buck, Heaton, Huber, Wright, and other similarly-situated dentists who 

are members of the organizational Plaintiffs, Board Certified in their respective areas by the 

respective aforementioned boards, wish to be recognized as specialists in their respective areas of 

practice and so inform the public, are in imminent risk of irreparable injury unless this Court de-

clares the specialty regulation unconstitutional and grants Plaintiffs the injunctive relief 

sought. 

Causes of action 

Count 1: Freedom of speech (through 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

44. ¶¶ 1-43 are incorporated. 

45. The individual Plaintiffs wish to advertise as specialists in their respective areas of ex-

pertise, and it would not be false or misleading to do so. Plaintiffs' right to advertise truthfully is 

protected by the First Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, made applicable to 

the States by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Rules 108.54 encroaches on 

this right, both facially and as applied, as to both the individual and the organizational Plaintiffs. 

This violation of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights by Defendants is actionable under 42 U.S.C. § 

1983, through which this claim is asserted. 

Count 2: Substantive and procedural due process (through 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

46. ¶¶ 1-43 are incorporated. 

47. The individual Plaintiffs have protected property and liberty interests in their licenses 

to practice dentistry and have a right to engage in truthful commercial speech. 

48. Rule 108.54 deprives Plaintiffs of a State mechanism to evaluate the professional den-

tal credentials earned by dentists in areas of dentistry not recognized by the ADA as specialties 
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and further deprives the individual Plaintiffs and members of the organizational Plaintiffs of any 

mechanism for appealing the TBDE’s denial of recognition of any credentialing organization or 

any areas of dental practice not declared to be specialty areas of practice by the ADA. 

49. Both facially and as applied, Rule 108.54 deprives Plaintiffs of any right to a neutral and 

impartial fact finder, resulting in arbitrary and capricious decisions, in violation of Plaintiffs' 

due process rights, guaranteed by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution. This violation of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights by Defendants is actionable under 

42 U.S.C. § 1983, through which this claim is asserted. 

Count 3: Equal protection (through 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

50. ¶¶ 1-43 are incorporated. 

51. Rule 108.54 creates discriminatory classifications between dentists who have obtained 

designations as ADA-recognized specialists and those who have obtained professional dental 

credentials in an area of dentistry not recognized by the ADA as a specialty. The statute under 

which Rule 108.54 was promulgated makes no such distinction relative to dental licensure in 

Texas. 

52. The s pe ci a l ty  regulation creates i r r a t i o n a l  a n d  discriminatory classifications be-

tween l i c e n s e d  dentists who can hold themselves out to be specialists, and those such as 

Plaintiffs who cannot so advertise.  

53. Rule 108.54 confers rights on dentists who have obtained designations as 

ADArecognized specialists, while impinging on the fundamental rights of dentists who have 

obtained professional dental credentials in an area of dentistry not recognized by the private 
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trade association as a specialty. Those fundamental rights are guaranteed by the United States 

Constitution. 

54. Rule 108.54 is suspect and subject to heightened judicial scrutiny if it impinges too 

greatly on fundamental rights. Both facially and as applied, it denies equal protection of the 

laws to Plaintiffs. This violation of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights by Defendants is actionable 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, through which this claim is asserted. 

Prayer for Relief 

55. Based upon the foregoing matters, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court grant 

them the following relief: 

a. assume jurisdiction over this action; 
 
 b. declare Rule 108.54 unconstitutional, both on its face and as applied to Plaintiffs; 
 
c. issue a permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants, their officers, agents, employees, 

attorneys, successors in office, and all persons in active concert or participation with 
them from further maintenance, implementation, or enforcement of the provisions of 
Rule 108.54; 

 
d.  under 28 U.S.C. § 1920, 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b), and Fed.R.Civ.Proc. 54(d), award 

Plainti f fs  their reasonable attorney fees, litigation expenses, and costs incurred in 
bringing and prosecuting this action; and 

 
e. grant Plaintiffs such other and further relief as may be necessary, appropriate, and equi-

table. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

 

___/s/ Renea Hicks____________ 

Renea Hicks 

Attorney at Law 

Texas Bar No. 09580400 

 

LAW OFFICE OF MAX RENEA HICKS 

101 West 6th Street, Suite 504 

Austin, Texas 78701 

(512) 480-8231 

fax (512) 480-9105 

rhicks@renea-hicks.com 

 

 

FRANK R. RECKER & ASSOCIATES, CO, LPA 

BY: Frank R. Recker* 

291 S. Collier Boulevard, Suite 105 

Marco Island, Florida 34145 

T 800-224-3529 

F 888-469-0151 

Recker@ddslaw.com 

 

  

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS AMERICAN 

ACADEMY OF IMPLANT DENTISTRY, THE 

AMERICAN SOCIETY OF DENTIST ANESTHE-

SIOLOGISTS, AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ORAL 

MEDICINE, AMERICAN ACADEMY OF OROFA-

CIAL PAIN, JAY E. ELLIOT, MONTY BUCK, 

JAROM C. HEATON, MICHAEL R. HUBER, 

AND EDWARD F. WRIGHT 

 

 

 

                                                 
*
 Application for Admission Pro Hac Vice pending 
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